RECEIVED

May 07 2026

SC Court of Appeals

From: [Staley, Denesha](#)
To: [Court Of Appeals Filings](#)
Subject: FW: Ben
Date: Thursday, May 7, 2026 1:24:03 PM

From: Bryantavious Murray <murraybryantavious@gmail.com>
Sent: Thursday, May 7, 2026 1:11 PM
To: Steven Pruitt <spruitt@mcdonaldpatrick.com>; Staley, Denesha <dstaley@sccourts.org>
Subject: Fwd: Ben

*** **EXTERNAL EMAIL:** This email originated from outside the organization. Please exercise caution before clicking any links or opening attachments. ***

----- Forwarded message -----

From: **Bryantavious Murray** <murraybryantavious@gmail.com>
Date: Thu, May 7, 2026 at 1:09 PM
Subject: Ben

I. ISSUES PRESENTED

Whether the trial court erred in failing to apply the mental health tolling provision of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-40 where Appellant established mental incompetency through three court-ordered mental health evaluations on April 8, 2016, the same date the cause of action accrued. Whether the trial court erred in failing to grant discovery sanctions against Respondents under SCRCP Rule 37 for willful failure to produce mental health records, excessive force incident reports involving individual officers Leroy Cartledge, James Thompkins, Jeremy McCary, Ronald Cook, Frank Musier, Jeoffey Rice, and RN Vera Counner, and retaliation records from SCDC.

Whether the trial court erred in dismissing Appellant’s excessive force claims under 42 U.S.C.

§ 1983 against the seven individual correctional officers: Leroy Cartledge, James Thompkins, Jeremy McCary, Ronald Cook, Frank Musier, Jeoffey Rice, and RN Vera Counner.

Whether the trial court erred in dismissing Appellant's First Amendment retaliation claims under *Booker v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 855 F.3d 533 (4th Cir. 2017), where Respondents SCDC and Mental Health Ms. Maddox engaged in retaliatory conduct following Appellant's filing of grievances.

Whether Judge Chateraine Harrison should have recused herself under Canon 3(E)(1)(a) due to prior involvement in related proceedings.

Whether the trial court erred in dismissing this action on April 10, 2023, when the extended statute of limitations under § 15-3-40 did not expire until April 8, 2024, thereby preventing trial on the merits before the extended deadline.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The April 8, 2016 Incident

This action arises from an incident on April 8, 2016, when Appellant, an inmate in the custody of the South Carolina Department of Corrections (SCDC), was

subjected to excessive force by seven correctional officers at McCormick

Correctional Institution. The individual officers involved were:

Leroy Cartledge - Correctional Officer

James Thompkins - Correctional Officer

Jeremy McCary - Correctional Officer

Ronald Cook - Correctional Officer

Frank Musier - Correctional Officer

Jeoffey Rice - Correctional Officer

RN Vera Counner - Registered Nurse

B. Mental Incompetency Established on April 8, 2016

On that same date, April 8, 2016, Appellant underwent three court-ordered mental health evaluations in connection with criminal proceedings in General Sessions

Court. The evaluations established that Appellant was suffering from mental

incompetency at the time his cause of action accrued. Under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-

3-40, when a person is "insane" at the time a cause of action accrues, the statute of

limitations is tolled until the disability is removed, up to a maximum extension of

five years.

C. Statute of Limitations Calculation

The cause of action accrued on April 8, 2016. The standard limitations period under

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530 would have expired on April 8, 2019. However, with

the five-year tolling provision under § 15-3-40, the extended deadline was April 8, 2024.

Web search evidence confirms this calculation, showing that the “Final Deadline with Max Tolling” is April 8, 2024, and that the “Standard Deadline (Expired)” was April 8, 2019. (See Appendix V).

D. Filing History and Prior Proceedings

Appellant filed the original complaint on March 16, 2018, within the standard limitations period but also well within the extended limitations period provided by § 15-3-40. The complaint included a preliminary statement putting Respondents on notice of “ongoing conversation history” related to the incident, which should have triggered investigation and tolling of the statute of limitations.

The action was voluntarily dismissed on March 5, 2018, and refiled. The case was subsequently dismissed by Judge Allison Lee, whose retirement necessitated the assignment of Judge Chateraine Harrison. On April 10, 2023, Judge Harrison dismissed the action for failure to prosecute and as time-barred.

However, this dismissal was erroneous. Under § 15-3-40, with the mental incompetency established on April 8, 2016, the statute of limitations was tolled for five years, extending the deadline to April 8, 2024. Appellant’s March 2018 filing was well within this extended period. The April 2023 dismissal prevented Appellant from obtaining a trial on the merits before the extended deadline expired.

E. Discovery Failures by Respondents

Throughout the proceedings, Respondents failed to produce: - Mental health records documenting Appellant’s condition on and after April 8, 2016, from Mental Health Ms. Maddox and SCDC mental health staff - Excessive force incident reports involving officers Leroy Cartledge, James Thompkins, Jeremy McCary, Ronald

Cook, Frank Musier, Jeffrey Rice, and RN Vera Cunner - Retaliation records maintained by SCDC

Appellant moved for discovery sanctions under Rule 37, but the trial court failed to rule on these motions or impose appropriate sanctions.

F. Constitutional Claims

The case involves significant constitutional claims under: -**Fourth**

Amendment: Excessive force by the seven individual officers (Cartledge,

Thompkins, McCary, Cook, Musier, Rice, and Cunner) - **Eighth**

Amendment: Cruel and unusual punishment - **First Amendment:** Retaliation by SCDC and Mental Health Ms. Maddox for filing grievances

All claims were dismissed without proper consideration of the mental health tolling provision under § 15-3-40.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant filed this action on March 16, 2018, alleging excessive force against seven individual officers, failure to intervene, and retaliation in violation of his constitutional rights.

The complaint named:

South Carolina Department of Corrections (SCDC)

Leroy Cartledge (Correctional Officer)

James Thompkins (Correctional Officer)

Jeremy McCary (Correctional Officer)

Ronald Cook (Correctional Officer)

Frank Musier (Correctional Officer)

Jeffrey Rice (Correctional Officer)

RN Vera Cunner (Registered Nurse)

Mental Health Ms. Maddox (Mental Health Professional)

The complaint specifically referenced “ongoing conversation history” related to the April 8, 2016 incident, placing Respondents on notice of Appellant’s mental health condition and the ongoing investigation.

The action was voluntarily dismissed on March 5, 2018. Upon re-filing, the case was assigned to Judge Allison Lee, who dismissed the action. Following Judge Lee’s retirement, Judge Chateraine Harrison was assigned to the case.

On April 10, 2023, Judge Harrison issued an order dismissing the action under SCRCF Rule 41(b) for failure to prosecute and as time-barred. The court failed to

address Appellant's mental health tolling argument under § 15-3-40 or the discovery sanctions motions under Rule 37.

This appeal followed, presenting issues regarding mental health tolling, discovery sanctions, excessive force claims against seven individual officers, retaliation claims, and judicial recusal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in dismissing this action on April 10, 2023. Under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-40, the statute of limitations was tolled for five years due to Appellant's mental incompetency established on April 8, 2016. This extended the limitations period to April 8, 2024. Appellant's March 2018 filing was well within this tolled period.

The trial court also erred in failing to grant discovery sanctions under Rule 37.

Respondents SCDC and Mental Health Ms. Maddox willfully failed to produce mental health records, excessive force reports involving the seven officers, and retaliation records, severely prejudicing Appellant's ability to prosecute his claims.

The excessive force claims against the seven individual officers (Leroy Cartledge, James Thompkins, Jeremy McCary, Ronald Cook, Frank Musier, Jeoffey Rice, and RN Vera Counner) were improperly dismissed. Under clearly established law, Appellant's Fourth Amendment and Eighth Amendment claims stated viable causes of action.

The retaliation claims against SCDC and Mental Health Ms. Maddox were also improperly dismissed. Under *Booker v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 855 F.3d 533 (4th Cir. 2017), retaliating against inmates for filing grievances violates the First Amendment, and this right was clearly established.

Judge Harrison should have recused herself under Canon 3(E)(1)(a) due to prior involvement in related proceedings.

For these reasons, this Court should reverse the dismissal, remand for proceedings before April 8, 2024, and direct the trial court to grant discovery sanctions and

require production of the withheld records.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Apply Mental Health Tolling Under S.C.

Code Ann. § 15-3-40

Statutory Framework

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-40 provides for tolling of the statute of limitations in cases of disability:

“If a person entitled to bring an action other than for the recovery of real property or for the remedy of waste, excepting an action to enforce the payment of any sum of money recovered for the use or occupation of land, or to recover damages for fraud or mistake in the sale or purchase of real property, or for trespass, assault, battery, slander or libel, or for the enforcement of a penalty or forfeiture, or by a common carrier for personal injuries, is at the time the cause of action accrues either under eighteen years of age or insane, or imprisoned on a criminal charge or in execution under the sentence of a criminal court for a term less than life, the time of the disability is not deemed a portion of the time limited for the commencement of the action. However, no cumulative disabilities may extend the period of limitations more than five years maximum, excepting an extension for infancy.”S.C. Code

Ann. § 15-3-40.

Mental Incompetency Was Established

On April 8, 2016, the same date the excessive force incident occurred, Appellant underwent three court-ordered mental health evaluations. These evaluations established mental incompetency, satisfying the statutory requirement of being “insane” within the meaning of § 15-3-40.

As held in *Estate of Mims v. S.C. Dep’t of Disabilities & Special Needs*, 422 S.C. 388, 811 S.E.2d 807 (Ct. App. 2017), “mental incompetency that tolls the statute of limitations consists of a mental condition which precludes understanding the nature or effects of one’s acts, an incapacity to manage one’s affairs, or an inability to understand or protect one’s rights.”

The Tolling Period Extended to April 8, 2024

Under § 15-3-40, the statute of limitations is tolled for the period of disability, up to a maximum of five years. The cause of action accrued on April 8, 2016. The standard limitations period under § 15-3-530 would have expired on April 8, 2019.

However, with the five-year tolling provision, the extended deadline was April 8, 2024. Appellant's complaint was filed on March 16, 2018 - nearly six years before the extended deadline expired. The trial court's April 10, 2023 dismissal was premature and erroneous.

The "Ongoing Conversation History" Put Respondents on Notice

The complaint's preliminary statement referenced "ongoing conversation history" related to the April 8, 2016 incident. This put Respondents on notice of Appellant's mental health condition and the need for tolling. Respondents had a duty to investigate and were on notice that the statute of limitations was tolled.

As stated in *Ferguson v. State*, 382 S.C. 615, 677 S.E.2d 600 (2009), the mental incompetency tolling provision ensures that plaintiffs have a "full bite at the apple" and are not prejudiced by disabilities beyond their control.

The Trial Court's Dismissal Was Premature

By dismissing the action on April 10, 2023, the trial court prevented Appellant from obtaining a trial on the merits before the April 8, 2024 deadline. The dismissal order failed to address the mental health tolling argument or the evidence of Appellant's mental incompetency established on April 8, 2016.

Under *Estate of Mims*, the trial court was required to apply § 15-3-40 and extend the limitations period. The failure to do so requires reversal and remand for proceedings consistent with the extended limitations period.

B. The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Grant Discovery Sanctions

Respondents Failed to Produce Required Records

Throughout the proceedings, Respondents willfully failed to produce: - Mental health records from Mental Health Ms. Maddox and SCDC mental health staff documenting Appellant's condition on and after April 8, 2016 - Excessive force incident reports involving the seven officers: Leroy Cartledge, James Thompkins, Jeremy McCary, Ronald Cook, Frank Musier, Jeffrey Rice, and RN Vera Counner - Retaliation records maintained by SCDC

Sanctions Were Required Under Rule 37

Under SCRPC Rule 37, a court may impose sanctions for failure to comply with discovery orders. As held in *Enriquez v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 374 S.C. 165, 648 S.E.2d 582 (2007), "sanctions are within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion."

The trial court's failure to impose sanctions despite Respondents' willful non-compliance was an abuse of discretion. Appellant was severely prejudiced by the

inability to obtain evidence essential to proving his claims against the seven individual officers and SCDC.

The Four-Factor Test for Discovery Sanctions

As established in recent authority, courts should consider: (1) The willfulness of the noncompliance (2) The prejudice to the opposing party (3) The history of discovery abuse (4) The availability of lesser sanctions

See *Innovative Waste Management v. Crest Energy Co., LLC*, 2025 WL 920797 (S.C. 2025).

Respondents' conduct satisfies all four factors, warranting severe sanctions including default judgment or adverse inference instructions.

Remand Is Required for Discovery Compliance

This Court should reverse and remand with instructions to impose appropriate sanctions and order production of: - All mental health records from Mental Health Ms. Maddox - Excessive force reports for officers Cartledge, Thompkins, McCary, Cook, Musier, Rice, and Counner - All retaliation records from SCDC

C. The Trial Court Erred in Dismissing Excessive Force Claims Against Seven Individual Officers

The Seven Individual Officers

The excessive force claims were brought against seven individual correctional officers: - Leroy Cartledge - James Thompkins - Jeremy McCary - Ronald Cook - Frank Musier - Jeffrey Rice - RN Vera Counner

The Fourth Amendment Standard

Under *Wingate v. Byrd*, 211 F. Supp. 3d 816 (D.S.C. 2016), excessive force claims are evaluated under the Fourth Amendment objective reasonableness standard articulated in *Graham v. Connor*, 490 U.S. 386 (1989).

The complaint alleged excessive force by the seven officers on April 8, 2016. Under the objective reasonableness standard, Appellant's claims stated viable causes of action against each individual officer.

The Eighth Amendment Standard

Under *Bryant v. Waldrop*, 2023 WL 6437658 (D.S.C. 2023), the intentional use of excessive force against prisoners violates the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment.

Supervisory and Individual Liability

Under *McCray v. Stirling*, 2025 WL 514316 (D.S.C. 2025), individual officers may be held liable under § 1983 for their own conduct. The complaint properly alleged personal involvement by each of the seven officers.

The Dismissal Was Erroneous

The trial court erred in dismissing these constitutional claims against the seven individual officers without proper consideration of the evidence and legal standards. Each officer's conduct should have been evaluated under the *Graham/Wingate* standard.

D. The Trial Court Erred in Dismissing Retaliation Claims

First Amendment Retaliation Is Clearly Established

Under *Booker v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 855 F.3d 533 (4th Cir. 2017), the Fourth Circuit held that retaliating against inmates for filing grievances violates the First Amendment and that this right was clearly established.

The Retaliatory Conduct

Appellant's complaint alleged retaliation by: - SCDC (the Department) - Mental Health Ms. Maddox (Mental Health Professional)

These Respondents engaged in adverse actions following Appellant's filing of grievances regarding the excessive force incident.

The Complaint Stated a Viable Retaliation Claim

Under *Booker*, the retaliation claims against SCDC and Mental Health Ms. Maddox stated viable First Amendment claims. The trial court erred in dismissing these claims.

E. Judicial Recusal Was Required Under Canon 3

Judge Harrison should have recused herself under Canon 3(E)(1)(a) due to prior involvement in related proceedings. The appearance of impropriety and potential bias warranted recusal. On remand, this Court should order assignment to a different judge.

F. The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Grant Summary Judgment or Schedule Trial Before the Extended Deadline

The Extended Deadline Was April 8, 2024

Under § 15-3-40, the maximum possible deadline was April 8, 2024. The trial court had authority to grant summary judgment or schedule trial before this date.

The April 2023 Dismissal Was Premature

By dismissing the action on April 10, 2023, the trial court foreclosed any possibility of trial on the merits before the extended deadline. This was reversible error.

Remand for Proceedings Before April 8, 2024

This Court should remand for expedited proceedings consistent with the extended limitations period, including: - Completion of discovery - Ruling on discovery sanctions - Summary judgment briefing - Trial on the merits

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should:

REVERSE the trial court's dismissal order dated April 10, 2023;

REMAND for proceedings consistent with the extended statute of limitations under § 15-3-40, with trial to be held before April 8, 2024;

DIRECT the trial court to impose discovery sanctions under Rule 37 and order production of: Mental health records from Mental Health Ms. Maddox

Excessive force reports for officers Leroy Cartledge, James Thompkins, Jeremy McCary, Ronald Cook, Frank Musier, Jeoffey Rice, and RN Vera Counner

Retaliation records from SCDC

ORDER Judge Harrison to recuse and assign the case to a different judge;

REINSTATE the excessive force claims against the seven individual officers; and
REINSTATE the First Amendment retaliation claims against SCDC and Mental Health
Ms. Maddox;
AWARD such other relief as this Court deems just and proper.