RECEIVED

Feb 07 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM SC COURT OF APPEALS
AND
SPARTANBURG COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001735

Case No. 2017CP4203523

Shannon P. Green and Darrell Russell..... Plaintiff(s),

v.

Edward C. McGee and David Hudgins..... Defendants(s),

Of whom Shannon P. Green is Respondent

And

Of whom David Hudgins is the Petitioner

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Douglas A. Churdar, Esq.
UPSTATE LAWYER
SC Bar No. 11971
304 Pettigru Street
Greenville, SC 29601
Tel.: (864) 233-0203
Fax: (864) 233.3020
Email: doug@upstatelawyer.com

*Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY REJECTED MR. HUDGINS' ARGUMENT THAT S.C. CODE §15-38-50(1) ALLOWS HIM TO CONVERT THE ENTIRE \$100,000.00 SETTLEMENT PAID BY HIS CO-DEFENDANT/JOINT TORTFEASOR, MR. MCGEE.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Hudgins initially bases his argument on a false premise, namely that S.C. Code §15-38-50(1) is plain and unambiguous. (It is not, and in fact the relevant language can be reasonably construed in at least two (2) ways.) Based upon that false premise, Mr. Hudgins argues for a construction of §15-38-50(1) that is entirely inconsistent with legislative intent as repeatedly recognized by this Court; his construction would “turn the Act on its head to benefit [a] non-settling defendant[] at the expense of [a] plaintiff[] and those who do settle.” *Smith v. Tiffany*, 419 SC 548, 559, 799 SE2d 479 (2017). Such a construction “is not the balance the General Assembly struck in the Act.” *Id.* Mr. Hudgins proposes to “fashion[] and ultimately extract[] a benefit from the decisions of those who do [settle].” *Id.*, citing *Riley v. Ford Motor Co*, 414 SC 185, 197, 777 SE2d 824, 831 (2015). Despite having been found not only negligent but also reckless, willful, and wanton, Mr. Hudgins argues: 1) he should pay nothing against a judgment of \$158,546.78, even though it includes an actual damages award of \$88,546.78, for which he can be held 100% liable, and a \$35,000.00 punitive damages award specific to him alone; and 2) Mr. McGee, his co-defendant/joint tortfeasor, has an obligation to Ms. Green of \$88,128.07 (before

setoff), which is 56% of the jury's verdict in her favor (\$53,128.07 actual damages [\$88,546.78 x .60] and \$35,000.00 punitive damages).¹

Mr. Hudgins' proposed construction is inconsistent with other statutory provisions. First, §15-38-15(F). Mr. Hudgins' argument depends upon use of the jury's allocation of fault. This would prevent Ms. Green from exercising her right to seek the \$88,546.78 actual damages award from whichever co-defendant/joint tortfeasor she chooses. The jury determined Mr. Hudgins "acted recklessly, willfully, and wantonly". Thus, based upon §15-38-15(F), the jury's allocation of fault "does not apply".² (The Court of Appeals did not properly address this issue.³) Second, §15-32-520(G). Mr. Hudgins' argument depends upon converting Mr. McGee's settlement to satisfy a \$35,000.00 *punitive* damages award against him. Based upon §15-32-520(G), Mr. McGee could *never* have been liable for a punitive damages award against Mr. Hudgins; punitive damages are not a common liability.⁴ Absent very clear language in the Covenant Not to Execute, Mr. McGee did not settle a liability that could never have been his. Thus, Mr. Hudgins cannot use Mr. McGee's \$100,000.00 settlement payment to satisfy the \$35,000.00 punitive damages award against him.

¹ Since Mr. McGee is entitled to a \$100,000.00 setoff based upon Nationwide's settlement payment, Mr. Hudgins is effectively arguing there are two (2) setoffs – one for him and one for Mr. McGee. In fact, he did that explicitly before the Circuit Court. The \$100,000.00 payment by Mr. McGee's liability carrier magically morphs into a \$200,000.00 setoff.

² Nor does §15-38-15(E) apply. Mr. McGee, who paid a \$100,000.00 settlement to Ms. Green, was not a "potential tortfeasor" but rather a "defendant" and, as the jury determined, an "actual" tortfeasor. The terms "potential tortfeasor" and "defendant" are not synonymous. *Smith v. Tiffany*, 419 at 557-558.

³ This argument was made to the Court of Appeals (Appx. pp. 510 and 526-27).

⁴ This argument was made to the Court of Appeals (Appx. p. 510).

(The Court of Appeals did not apply the jury’s allocation of fault to the punitive damages award against Mr. Hudgins, but neither did it address this issue.)

I. §15-38-50(1) IS NOT CLEAR AND UNAMBIGUOUS.

Hudgins argues that §15-38-50(1) is clear and unambiguous. It is not. Multiple lawyers and judges have wrestled with its meaning and application – not only in this case but in several prior cases. Justice Kittredge recently recognized (understatedly) “that section 15-38-50 is not a model of clarity...”. *Jolly v. Fisher Controls Int’l*, 443 SC 511, 541, 905 S.E.2d 380, 396 (2024) (Kittredge, J., dissenting). (At oral argument, he referred to it as “a train wreck”. Twice.)

“Statutes must be read as a whole, and sections which are part of the same general statutory scheme must be constructed together and given effect, if it can be done so by *any reasonable construction*.” *Higgins v. State*, 307 SC 446, 449 (1992). (Emphasis provided.) There are at least two (2) reasonable constructions of §15-38-50(1). The first is the one proposed by Hudgins, namely that he can divert McGee’s settlement payment for his own use. The second is that the extent of the \$100,000.00 payment is available to be spent among “two or more persons liable in tort for the same injury”. The payment benefits McGee, of course, but other tortfeasors get whatever is left (“to the extent”). “To the extent” means the outer limit. While Mr. Hudgins’ liability is not discharged by Mr. McGee’s settlement, it is reduced against him to the outer limit of Mr. McGee’s settlement. (“[I]t reduces the claim against the others *to the extent* of any amount stipulated by the release or covenant...”)

II. MR. HUDGINS ARGUES FOR A CONSTRUCTION OF §15-38-50(1) THAT IS ENTIRELY INCONSISTENT WITH LEGISLATIVE INTENT.

Mr. Hudgins' argument must be rejected because it would lead to an absurd result - one that is entirely inconsistent with legislative intent. "The cardinal rule of statutory construction is that [the courts] are to ascertain and effectuate the actual intent of the legislature." *Burns v. State Farm*, 297 SC 520,522, 377 SE2d 569, 570 (1989). Every rule of statutory construction is subservient to the goal of achieving the manifest intent of the legislature. *Martin v. Ellisor*, 266 SC 377, 381, 223 SE2d 415 (1976). When the literal application of a statute produces an absurd result, the court will consider a different meaning. *Id.* The rule of literal interpretation will be forced to yield. *Id.* "However plain the ordinary meaning of words used in a statute may be, the courts will reject that meaning when to accept it would lead to a result so plainly absurd that it could not possibly be intended by the legislature or defeat the plain legislative intention." *Miller v. Aiken*, 354 SC 303, 613 SE2d 364, 366 (2005).

This Court has repeatedly recognized the legislative intent of the Act. The Act codified equitable principles relating to setoff that existed for over one hundred (100) years. *Riley*, 414 S.C. at 195, 777 SE2d at 830. In short, the Act is intended to "strike a fair balance for all involved – plaintiffs and defendants – and to do so in a way that promotes and fosters settlements." *Smith v. Tiffany*, 419 SC at 557. Specifically, this Court has regularly stated the legislature intended to 1) prevent double recovery by plaintiffs, *Riley*, 414 SC at 196; and 2) promote settlements. *Id.*; *Smith v. Tiffany*, 419 SC at 557.

Mr. Hudgins' position has nothing to do with preventing double recovery by Ms. Green, which was cause enough for the Court of Appeals to reject it. His position would unfairly deprive Ms. Green of a full recovery – a single recovery. While Ms. Green received a verdict of \$158,546.78, Mr. Hudgins argues that she should receive nothing from him. Applying Mr. Hudgins' calculation, Ms. Green would have been entitled to \$83,128.07 from Mr. McGee, but Mr. McGee also owes her nothing because he overpaid her with the settlement. (His 60% of the \$88,546.78 = \$53,128.07 + \$35,000 punitive = \$88,128.07.) In Mr. Hudgins' analysis, Ms. Green merely receives the original amount of settlement, which is less than two-thirds (2/3) of the jury verdict in her favor. This inequity is prevented in some jurisdictions by a rule that makes sense and should be adopted in South Carolina: Setoff is available "only to the extent necessary to prevent a double recovery". *Hoglund v. State Farm Automobile Insurance Company*, 148 Ill.2d 272, 592 NE2d 1031, 1035 (1992).

Mr. Hudgins' position will also not promote settlements. To the contrary, it will discourage settlements at least in the common scenario involving UIM. No plaintiff injured by joint tortfeasors would settle with the liability carrier for one of them and proceed against her own carrier for UIM benefits. The settlement payment would be doubled. Such a settlement would never benefit a plaintiff.

III. MR. HUDGINS' POSITION DEPENDS UPON AN ALLOCATION OF FAULT THAT DOES NOT APPLY.

Mr. Hudgins argues that his liability from the jury's verdict is \$70,418.71 (\$35,418.71 [forty (40% of \$88,546.78 - the actual damages awarded)], plus the

punitive damages award of \$35,000.00 against him). Obviously, this position depends upon application of the jury's allocation of fault – 60% to Mr. McGee and 40% to Mr. Hudgins. The Act provides for allocation of fault in most cases to ensure that no defendant pays more than his equitable share of a common liability. Thus, except where defendants have acted recklessly, willfully, and wantonly (among other things), a defendant “who has paid more than his pro-rata share of the common liability” may seek contribution from a fellow tortfeasor. §15-38-20(A) & (B). (Except where, as here, one tortfeasor has entered into a settlement. Mr. McGee cannot claim contribution from Mr. Hudgins. §15-38-20(D). And Mr. Hudgins cannot claim contribution from Mr. McGee. §15-38-50(2).)

But Mr. Hudgins fails to reconcile the fact that the jury found he had “acted recklessly, willfully, and wantonly” and that punitive damages were awarded against him. (As will be discussed below, punitive damages are not a common liability.) In such a case, allocation of fault is irrelevant. §15-38-15(F) provides: “This section does not apply to a defendant whose conduct is determined to be willful, wanton, reckless, grossly negligent...” The jury's allocation of fault “does not apply”.

The actual damages award of \$88,546.78 is a pure joint and several award – a common liability. Ms. Green is entitled to a judgment against either Mr. McGee or Mr. Hudgins for 100% of those actual damages (before setoff). In addition, Mr. Hudgins is solely responsible for the punitive damages award against him in the amount of \$35,000.00. Thus, the judgment against him could have been \$123,546.78. Should Ms. Green pursue the \$88,546.78 actual damages award from Mr. Hudgins,

he is entitled to “the extent of” a \$100,000.00 setoff (“the extent of any amount stipulated by the release or the covenant”) for those actual damages. Thus, he would owe nothing in actual damages.

IV. MR. HUDGINS’ POSITION DEPENDS UPON SETOFF OF THE PUNITIVE DAMAGES AWARD AGAINST HIM, WHICH IS IMPERMISSIBLE.

Punitive damages are not joint and several; they are not a common liability. If there was any doubt about that, such doubt was clarified with adoption of the Non-Economic Damages Act in 2012. §15-32-520(G) provides: “In an action with multiple defendants, a punitive damages award must be specific to each defendant, and each defendant is liable only for the amount of the award paid against that defendant.” Neither Mr. McGee nor Mr. Hudgins can be liable for a punitive damages award against the other. As a result, a release or covenant that covers Mr. McGee’s liability and damages does not cover a punitive damages award against Mr. Hudgins. Mr. Hudgins alone is responsible for the \$35,000.00 punitive damages award against him.

Such a policy – that there is no joint and several liability for punitive damages – has prevailed for years in many jurisdictions. “As a general rule, partial compensation by one tortfeasor may be shown by another tortfeasor in mitigation or reduction of damages... There are recognized limits to the application of the general rule and it only applies in determining actual damages.” *25 CJS Damages §177*. The reasoning for the policy is that punitive damages are awarded for specific egregious acts by specific defendants.

“While [joint and several liability] is not unnecessarily undesirable with respect to a judgment awarding compensatory damages, it is contrary to the policies underlying an award of punitive damages. The later award is intended in part as a penalty against a defendant who has exhibited a high degree of moral culpability and as a deterrence against further similar conduct by that defendant. Those interests are disserved if the judgment gives such a defendant an opportunity to escape payment of the penalty assessed. Thus, imposition of joint liability for a punitive award is improper.” *Smith v. Lightning Bolt Productions, Inc.*, 861 F.2d 363, 374 (2nd Cir. 1988).

See also, Crown Life Insurance Company v. Casteel, 22 SW2d 378, 291-392 (Tex. 2000):

“Under the one satisfaction rule, the nonsettling defendant may only claim a credit based on the damages for which all tortfeasors are jointly liable [citations omitted]...[T]he nonsettling defendant is entitled to offset any liability for joint and several damages by the amount of common damages paid by the settling defendant, but not for any amount of separate or punitive damages paid by the settling defendant.”; and *MAR Oil Co. v. Korpan*, Case No. 3:11CV1261-JGC (N.D. Ohio 9/29/15). (Joint and several punitive damages award not permitted.)

South Carolina has historically supported the policy that setoff among joint tortfeasors can only apply to a common liability. In *Collins v. Bisson Moving & Storage, Inc.*, 332 SC 290, 304-305, 504 SE2d 347 (1998), the Court of Appeals qualified the setoff rule. “[T]his rule applies to only those damages for which all tortfeasors are equally liable. 25 C.J.S. Damages §98(2) (1966).” *Id.*

Ms. Green is aware of *Smith v. Widener*, 397 SC 468, 748 SE2d 188 (2012). There this Court held that when an injury is caused by joint tortfeasors, and a plaintiff seeks actual and punitive damages, §15-38-50(1) requires a setoff that applies to all damages arising from “the same claim”, including punitive damages. This Court’s focus was on the meaning of the term “the same claim”. The “plaintiff’s

claim for actual and punitive damages arising from the same injury is the same claim for purposes of setoff under §15-38-50(1).” *Id.* at 473.

Significantly, *Smith v. Widener* was heard *before* the effective date of the Non-Economic Damages Act in 2012 and without analyzing the impact of §15-32-520(G). This section made clear the legislature’s intent that liability for punitive damages is specific to the defendant against whom imposed. Such liability for punitive damages is not and cannot be a common liability among co-defendants. As to how this relates to the Contribution Among Joint Tortfeasors Act, the focus must now be on references to the term “common liability”. §§15-38-20 & 15-38-30 make clear that joint tortfeasors must not be required to pay more than their “pro rata share of the *common liability*”. §15-38-20(B) (Emphasis provided.) A joint tortfeasor “who has paid more than his pro rata share of the *common liability*” may ordinarily seek contribution from another. *Id.* So while separate punitive damages awards against two (2) joint tortfeasors may arise from the same claim, it cannot be argued that they are a “common liability”.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should hold that Ms. Green is entitled to pursue judgment against either Defendant in the amount of \$88,546.78 actual damages (before setoff) and \$35,000.00 punitive damages from each of them.

If Ms. Green pursues judgment for actual damages against Mr. McGee, he can apply his \$100,000.00 settlement as a setoff, and he is left with a credit of \$11,453.22

that also reduces the \$35,000.00 punitive damages award against him. (The Covenant prevents Ms. Green from executing against Mr. McGee “any judgment... on account of...any damages”).

As to McGee: \$ 88,546.78 (Actual damages)
+ \$ 35,000.00 (Punitive damages)
 \$123,546.78
- \$100,000.00 (Setoff for Covenant Not to Execute)
 \$ 23,546.78 (Judgment against McGee)

As to Hudgins: + \$35,000.00 (Punitive damages)
 \$35,000.00 (Judgment against Hudgins)

If Ms. Green pursues judgment for actual damages against Mr. Hudgins, he can apply the \$100,000.00 settlement as a setoff but *only* against the judgment for actual damages. He is *not* left with a credit that can be applied to the \$35,000.00 punitive damages award against him.

As to Hudgins: + \$ 88,546.78 (Actual damages)
 - \$100,000.00 (Setoff for Covenant Not to Execute)
 \$ 11,453.22 (Hudgins cannot use for punitive damages award)

 + \$ 35,000.00 (Punitive damages)
 \$ 35,000.00 (Judgment against Hudgins)

As to McGee: + \$ 35,000.00 (Punitive damages)
 - \$ 11,453.22 (Balance of setoff)
 \$ 23,546.78 (Judgment against McGee)

Ms. Green receives \$53,546.78, which is the exact amount she would receive using the Court of Appeals' analysis. Any amount due by either Defendant must now include interest.

February 6, 2025